
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
-----------------------------------------------------------------X  
 
ANASTASIOS THOMAS BELESIS and 
ATB HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, 
 
                                                                    Plaintiffs, 

 
 
Index No._______ 
 

  
v.  
  
SAMUEL D. WAKSAL,  
         individually and as the Founder, Chief of  
         Innovation, Science and Strategy, and Chairman  
         of the Board of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC,  
         and Kadmon Corporation, LLC, 
KADMON PHARMACEUTICALS, LLC, 
KADMON CORPORATION, LLC, 
KADMON HOLDINGS, LLC, and all other corporate 
entities operating under the KADMON name, and  
STEVEN GORDON,  
          as Executive Vice President, General Counsel,  
          and Chief Administrative, Compliance and Legal  
          Officer of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and  
          Kadmon Corporation, LLC, 
 
                                                                 Defendants. 

CIVIL COMPLAINT FOR  
VIOLATION OF THE 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
ACT and SEC RULE § 10b-5,  
BREACH OF CONTRACT, 
BREACH OF THE IMPLIED 
COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH 
AND FAIR DEALING, 
FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT, 
MISREPRESENTATION, 
CONSTRUCTIVE CONTRACT/ 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT, AND  
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE 
WITH A CONTRACT 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

  
-----------------------------------------------------------------X  
 
 Plaintiffs Anastasios Thomas Belesis (“Belesis”) and ATB Holding Company, LLC 

(“ATB”) (collectively “Plaintiffs”), by their attorneys Meringolo & Associates, PC, as and for 

their Complaint against Samuel Waksal (“Waksal”) individually and as the Founder, Chief of 

Innovation, Science and Strategy, and Chairman of the Board of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC; 

Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC; Kadmon Corporation, LLC; Kadmon Holdings, LLC; and all 

other corporate entities operating under the Kadmon name (hereinafter collectively and 

individually referred to as “Kadmon” except where otherwise specified); and Steven Gordon, 

Esq. (“Gordon”) as Executive Vice President, General Counsel, and Chief Administrative, 
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Compliance and Legal Officer of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC, and Kadmon Corporation, 

LLC; (collectively, where relevant, the “Defendants”), allege as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC, is a privately owned biotechnology company engaged in 

the development, studying, testing, and production of medical products, including drugs that treat 

certain cancers, and monogenic, metabolic, autoimmune and fibrotic diseases.1  Kadmon, by its 

officers and directors, is engaged in the preparation of an initial public offering.2 

  In August 2010, Belesis, as Managing Member of ATB, and Waksal signed a legally 

valid and binding stock purchase agreement in which Waksal promised to convey to ATB 1,000 

Class B units, which were to convert to one million (1,000,000) shares of common stock in 

Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC, in exchange for $1.  Despite Plaintiffs’ full performance of the 

agreement, Waksal never conveyed the stock to ATB.   

 In March 2012, Kadmon, through its officers and directors, attempted to convey a stock 

certificate for 120,000 shares of Kadmon stock to Belesis.  Because the certificate did not 

conform to the contents of the stock purchase agreement, Belesis declined to accept the 

certificate. 

 On June 29, 2012, Waksal signed a letter that stated that Belesis personally and 

individually owned 120,000 shares of Kadmon stock, that neither Belesis nor ATB had any other 

interest in Kadmon, and that the certificate for 120,000 shares had been issued in full satisfaction 

of the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement.  Belesis, on behalf of himself and ATB, 

declined to sign the letter.  The next day, Gordon, one of Kadmon’s founders and its Executive 

                                                
1 http://kadmon.com/research-development/pipeline/ 
2 “Now, Kadmon has plans to go public. The company aims to file a form S-1 with the SEC by 
the end of this year and will move forward with an initial public offering, Waksal said in an 
interview.” http://www.cnbc.com/id/102026917 

Case 1:15-cv-05048   Document 1   Filed 06/29/15   Page 2 of 24



 3 

Vice President, General Counsel, Chief Administrative, Compliance and Legal Officer authored 

and sent an email to individuals including attorneys Denis Dufresne (“Dufresne”) and Louis 

Lombardo (“Lombardo”), in which he explained that, in order to avoid the mandatory disclosure 

to investors of the agreement between ATB and Waksal, and to evade Waksal’s lifetime bar from 

participation as an officer or director of any publicly traded company, Gordon and others were 

proposing an agreement whereby Belesis would renounce his interest in Kadmon and any claims 

against Waksal personally in exchange for 15 million dollars ($15,000,000) upon a liquidity 

event of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals. This offer was conveyed to Belesis. 

 On July 5, 2012, Belesis accepted the offer by signing a letter releasing his claim to the 

1,000,000 shares of stock purchased pursuant to the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement, 

and renouncing his interest in Kadmon, including the 120,000 shares of stock and any and all 

claims against Waksal.  

 The liquidity event has occurred.  To date, the Defendants, individually and collectively, 

have failed to pay Belesis the $15,000,000 upon which they agreed.   

 Plaintiffs bring this action to compel Defendants to honor their agreements and to 

compensate Plaintiffs either through specific performance in the form of issuance of a stock 

certificate for 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock or payment of the promised $15,000,000 in 

order to prevent Defendants’ continued unjust enrichment at Plaintiffs’ expense. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

1. This is a civil action arising under Section 10(b) of the Securities and Exchange 

Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); under Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder 

by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), 17 C.F.R. § 240-10b-5; and under 

applicable principles of contract and common law.   
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2. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337(a); under Section 

27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa; and under principles of supplemental jurisdiction 

because Plaintiffs’ breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing, fraudulent inducement, misrepresentation, constructive contract/unjust enrichment, and 

tortious interference with a contract claims form part of the same case or controversy under 

Article III of the United States Constitution. 

3. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) and 15 U.S.C. § 

78aa(a) because it is the judicial district in which the Defendants are subject to personal 

jurisdiction at the time of commencement of this action, because a substantial part of the events 

or omissions giving rise to the claims asserted herein occurred in this judicial district, and 

because the Kadmon Defendants transact business in this district. 

4. The shares of Kadmon stock at issue in this Complaint constitute securities as 

defined by the Exchange Act. 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10). 

5. In connection with the acts and omissions alleged in this Complaint, the 

defendants directly and indirectly used means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 

including the United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and electronic mail 

transmitted through the Internet. 

TIMELINESS OF PLEADING 

6. This action is timely brought within the five-year statute of repose, 28 U.S.C. § 

1658(b), because the events giving rise to this complaint occurred on or about August 12, 2010, 

June 30, 2012, and July 5, 2012.  

7. Plaintiffs’ contract and common law claims are timely asserted because the events 

giving rise to a claim of misrepresentation occurred within three years of the date of this 
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Complaint and the events giving rise to Plaintiffs’ remaining claims occurred within six years of 

the date of this Complaint.  N.Y. C.P.L.R. §§ 213, 214. 

PARTIES 
 

8. Plaintiff Belesis, a New York resident, is and was, at all times relevant, ATB’s 

Managing Member.   

9. Plaintiff ATB is a Delaware limited liability company.   

10. Defendant Waksal is currently the Founder, Chief of Innovation, Science and 

Strategy, and Chairman of the Board of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC.  

11. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, Waksal is and was, at all times 

relevant, a resident of New York, New York. 

12. The Kadmon defendants are limited liability corporations.   

13. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, LLC, 

is a Pennsylvania limited liability company.   

14. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, Kadmon Corporation, LLC, is 

the parent corporation of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals, and is a Delaware limited liability company.   

15. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, Kadmon Holdings, LLC, is a 

Delaware limited liability company.   

16. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, the Kadmon defendants’ 

managing members are residents of New York. 

17. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, Steven Gordon is and was, at all 

times relevant, an attorney licensed to practice in the State of New York. Gordon is the 

Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Chief Administrative, Compliance and Legal Officer 

and one of the founders of Kadmon. In addition, Gordon is and was Waksal’s personal counsel. 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND NATURE OF THE ACTION 
 

18. On or about August 12, 2010, Belesis, on behalf of ATB, and Waksal executed a 

lawful and binding stock purchase agreement, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A 

and made a part hereof in full.   

19.  Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement, Waksal agreed to “sell 1,000 Class B 

(voting) units of Kadmon Pharmaceuticals LLC to ATB Holding Company, LLC for $1.00.  

Upon the conversion of Kadmon to a “C” corporation, these units will convert into 1,000,000 

shares of common stock of the surviving corporation.”   

20. The stock purchase agreement does not define the 1,000,000 shares as a specific 

percentage of the founders’ stock.  

21. Kenneth Goodwin, Esq. (“Goodwin”) drafted the lawful and binding stock 

purchase agreement.   

22. Waksal agreed to deliver the shares “as soon as possible following ATB’s 

countersignature of this letter, but in any event by no later than September 30, 2010.”  See 

Exhibit A. 

23. The authenticity of the stock purchase agreement is not in dispute. 

24. Belesis tendered $1.00 to Waksal. 

25. Waksal did not transfer the shares. 

26. At the time Waksal signed the valid and binding August 12, 2010, stock purchase 

agreement, he was on supervised release arising out of his conviction in United States v. Waksal, 

02-CR-01041 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y.).  Waksal’s supervised release terminated on or about February 

8, 2012. 
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27. As a condition of his supervised release, Waksal was required to disclose all 

requested financial information and transactions to his probation officer. 

28. As a consequence of his conviction and of his civil settlement in Securities and 

Exchange Commission v. Samuel D. Waksal and Jack Waksal, 02-CV-4407 (RJH) (S.D.N.Y.), 

Waksal is prohibited from acting as an officer or director of any publicly traded company. 

29. On March 15, 2012, Belesis wrote to Waksal via email, copying Dufresne and 

Goodwin, that he had not yet received the shares and that he had been informed by telephone that 

Kadmon had designated only 120,000 shares to ATB instead of the agreed upon 1,000,000 

shares.  A copy of Belesis’ email is attached hereto as Exhibit B, which is made a part hereof in 

full. 

30. On the same date, Waksal responded to Belesis alone that he was “[h]aving 

lawyers check on agreement but I believe it was a percentage of founders stock and [sic] 

correct[?]”  See Exhibit B. 

31. Kadmon’s Board of Directors approved the issuance of 120,000 shares of 

Kadmon stock to Belesis. 

32. Kadmon, by its officers and directors, issued a stock certificate for 120,000 shares 

of Kadmon stock to Belesis. 

33. On March 16, 2012, Belesis wrote to Goodwin and Dufresne, copying Waksal, 

that he had received the wrong amount in the certificate and was returning it.  Belesis requested 

that a corrected certificate be issued. 

34. On June 29, 2012, Lombardo sent an email to Avi Mirman, Goodwin, and Gordon 

enclosing a letter signed by Waksal addressing Belesis’ (and ATB’s) ownership in Kadmon 

Holdings. The letter stated that Belesis personally owned 120,000 Class A Units in Kadmon 
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Holdings, LLC and that neither ATB nor Belesis owned “any other equity securities or interests 

in Kadmon Holdings or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates.”  A copy of the email and attached 

letter is attached hereto as Exhibit C and made a part hereof in full. 

35. The June 29, 2012, letter asked Belesis, ATB, and their respective affiliates to:  
 

release Kadmon, its subsidiaries, affiliates, officers, directors, managers, 
equity holders, Samuel D. Waksal and each of their respective successors, 
heirs and assigns (collectively, the “Releasees”) from any and all claims, 
proceedings causes of action, suits, debts, judgments and demands, in law 
or equity, known or unknown, that you ever had, now have or hereafter 
can, shall or may have against the Releasees arising under, resulting from 
or related to the August 2010 letter. 

 
36. The June 29, 2012, letter evidences Waksal’s belief that the August 2010 stock 

purchase agreement was valid and binding.  

37. The June 29, 2012, letter was intended to void the valid and binding stock 

purchase agreement from August 2010. 

38. Belesis, on behalf of ATB, rejected the Defendants’ offer to substitute 120,000 

shares for the agreed upon 1,000,000 shares and declined to sign the June 29, 2012, letter. 

39. On June 30, 2012, Gordon sent an email to Dufresne, Lombardo, Mirman, and 

Robert Bursky, counsel for Belesis, concerning the proposed transaction between ATB and 

Waksal.  A copy of the June 30, 2012, email is attached hereto as Exhibit D and made a part 

hereof in full. 

40. In relevant part, Gordon noted several modifications to the June 29, 2012, letter 

and explained that, in order to avoid disclosure to investors, the agreement between ATB/Belesis 

and Waksal would be voided in return for $15,000,000: 

[I]n substance (we are still thinking the mechanism through) Sam 
[Waksal] will personally convey to Tommy [Belesis], in compensation for 
Tommy’s personal assistance to Sam in trying to work around Sam’s 
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O&D bar3, at a liquidity event, $15mm.  All other agreements between 
Tommy/JTF4 and Sam/Kadmon will be voided, the 9/2010 [sic] document 
will be null, the 120,000 units will be returned/voided (?) and Tommy 
(and Sam) will sign some type of release. 

 
41. The June 30, 2012, email did not mention ATB. 

42. On July 5, 2012, Belesis accepted the Defendants’ offer as set forth in the June 

30, 2012, email. 

43. Specifically, on July 5, 2012, Belesis sent a letter to Steve Gordon in which he 

enclosed the stock certificate identifying him personally as the owner of 120,000 Class A Units 

of Kadmon Holdings, LLC.  A copy of the July 5, 2012, letter is attached hereto as Exhibit E 

and made a part hereof in full. 

44. In the July 5, 2012, letter, Belesis wrote in pertinent part that, “neither I nor any of 

the companies I control (the “Belesis Entities”) have or claim to have, directly or indirectly, any 

membership or other equity interest in Kadmon or any right to receive any compensation of any 

kind . . .” and that, “neither I nor any of the Belesis Entities have any valid existing agreements 

of any sort with Mr. Waksal personally.” See Exhibit E. 

45. In signing the July 5, 2012, letter, Belesis relied on the June 30, 2012, email and 

the promised consideration of $15,000,000. 

                                                
3 On information and belief, following convictions in this Court for violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 
371, 1343, 1344(a), 1505, 1621, and 15 U.S.C. § 78(j), United States v. Waksal, 02-CR-01041 
(WHP) and his civil settlement in Securities and Exchange Commission v. Samuel D. Waksal 
and Jack Waksal, 02-CV-4407 (RJH), Waksal was barred for life from acting as an Officer or 
Director of any publicly traded company.   
4 JTF refers to John Thomas Financial.  Belesis is the former CEO of John Thomas Financial.  
JTF and Belesis’ interest in JTF is unrelated to ATB and/or to Belesis’ status as the Managing 
Member of ATB. 
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46. Neither Kadmon nor Waksal ever paid ATB or Belesis $15,000,000 or any lesser 

sum in consideration for his renunciation of the stock purchase agreement or of the 120,000 

shares of Kadmon stock as detailed in the July 5, 2012, letter. 

47. Neither Belesis nor ATB ever signed a release other than the July 5, 2012, letter. 

48. Neither Belesis nor ATB ever received the originally agreed upon 1,000,000 

shares. 

CAUSES OF ACTION 

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT AND OF SECURITIES 

AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION RULE 10B-5 
(against Defendant Waksal) 

 
49. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

50. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant, Defendants, including Co-

founder and former prosecutor Defendant Gordon, were aware that Defendant Waksal was 

barred from operating as an officer or director of a publicly traded entity and from undertaking 

any financial transactions without the knowledge and permission of his probation officer. 

51. In order to deceive the Court and the public and to perpetuate a fraud on the 

public in connection with Kadmon’s anticipated initial public offering, Waksal carried out a 

plan, scheme, and course of conduct which was intended to and did deceive actual and potential 

investors, including Plaintiffs in that Waksal concealed the stock purchase agreement from his 

probation officer and from potential investors while simultaneously misleading Plaintiffs into a 

belief that Waksal would indeed transfer the shares as set forth in the stock purchase agreement. 

52. Defendant (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made 

untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 
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statements not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiffs and upon Kadmon’s actual and potential investors 

in an effort to increase demand for Kadmon’s anticipated public offering in violation of Section 

10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.  Specifically: 

a. Although Waksal communicated his intent to sign the stock purchase 

agreement through an instrumentality of interstate commerce, i.e, through an 

email on August 12, 2010, and in fact signed the stock purchase agreement on 

August 12, 2010, when he was still on supervised release, he concealed the 

existence of the agreement in order to avoid a technical violation of the 

financial disclosure requirements of his supervised release.  

b. To the best of Plaintiffs’ knowledge at this time, Waksal’s term of supervised 

release ended on or about February 8, 2012. 

c. On March 16, 2012, Waksal caused a certificate for 120,000 shares of 

Kadmon stock to be issued to Plaintiffs. 

d. By waiting until after the conclusion of his supervised release term to approve 

the issuance of any stock certificate to Plaintiffs, Waksal avoided the 

otherwise mandatory disclosure of the stock purchase agreement and of the 

extent of his interest in Kadmon, both to his probation officer and to actual 

and potential investors. 

e. By approving a stock certificate for only 120,000 shares, Waksal made a 

materially misleading and false statement about his ownership in Kadmon and 

about the number of shares he had agreed to transfer to Plaintiffs.   
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f. In the alternative, by failing to disclose the existence of the August 12, 2010, 

stock purchase agreement, Waksal omitted a material fact about Kadmon’s 

ownership that was material to investors including Plaintiffs.  

g. The August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement was never disclosed to the 

public. 

53. Defendant acted with scienter because his actions and communications 

demonstrate his knowing intent to manipulate and contravene the provisions of the Exchange Act 

and Rule 10b-5, and violate 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) in connection with the stock purchase agreement.  

54. At all times relevant, the fact of the stock purchase agreement’s existence and 

Waksal’s obligation thereunder was material non-public information, the concealment of which 

artificially inflated demand for Kadmon securities. 

55. At all times relevant, Waksal’s promise to issue a certificate for the agreed upon 

number of shares (see Exhibit B) was fraudulent because Waksal never intended to fulfill his 

promise. 

56. At all times relevant, Plaintiffs were misled by Waksal’s continued promise to 

transfer the shares as agreed in the stock purchase agreement. 

57. Plaintiffs justifiably relied upon Waksal’s signature on the August 12, 2010 stock 

purchase agreement, which was a valid and binding agreement that Plaintiffs would buy 

1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock from Waksal personally for $1. 

58. Plaintiffs’ injury was the direct and proximate result of Defendant Waksal’s 

failure to honor the stock purchase agreement. 
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59. By virtue of Defendant Waksal’s continued and unreasonable refusal to issue or 

cause to have issued a stock certificate for the agreed upon 1,000,000 shares, Plaintiffs have been 

damaged in an amount not less than the current value of 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock. 

COUNT II 
VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT AND OF SECURITIES 

AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION RULE 10B-5 
(against all Defendants) 

 
60. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

61. Upon information and belief, Defendants were aware that Defendant Waksal was 

barred from operating as an officer or director of a publicly traded entity. 

62. In order to deceive the Court and the public and to perpetuate a fraud on the 

public in connection with Kadmon’s anticipated initial public offering, Defendants acted with 

specific intent to defraud and carried out a plan, scheme, and course of conduct which was 

intended to and did deceive actual and potential investors, including Plaintiffs because 

Defendants drafted a materially false and misleading private placement memorandum that 

omitted all mention of Plaintiffs’ ownership of any portion of Kadmon stock as well as the 

proposed agreement to buy back Plaintiffs’ interest in Kadmon for $15,000,000. 

63. Defendants (a) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made 

untrue statements of material fact and omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon Plaintiffs and upon Kadmon’s actual and potential investors 

in an effort to increase demand for Kadmon’s anticipated public offering in violation of Section 

10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5.  Specifically: 
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a. On or about June 30, 2012, Defendants used an instrumentality of interstate 

commerce in connection with the purchase and sale of securities when they 

sent or caused an email to be sent in which Gordon acknowledged that the 

proposed buyout of Plaintiffs’ interest in Kadmon and claims against Waksal 

personally were intended to avoid disclosure to Kadmon’s prospective 

investors. 

b. The June 30, 2012, email specifically notes that Belesis’ ownership of 

120,000 Class A Units of Kadmon had been removed from the private 

placement memorandum that would be disclosed to investors. 

c. At the time the June 30, 2012, email was sent the private placement 

memorandum was materially false because Plaintiffs had not agreed to any 

buyout of their interest in Kadmon.   

d. In addition, the June 30, 2012, email promised that Waksal would pay 

$15,000,000 to Belesis in exchange for his renunciation of the August 12, 

2010 stock purchase agreement and his return of the 120,000 shares.   

e. Defendants acted with scienter in making the promise to pay Belesis 

$15,000,000 because Defendants knew, or should have known, that this 

promise was false and constituted a fraud or deceit upon Plaintiffs in 

connection with the purchase and sale of a security. 

f. The June 30, 2012, email specified that payment to Belesis from Waksal’s 

personal funds rather than from corporate funds was intended to compensate 

Belesis personally in acknowledgement of Belesis’ assistance to Waksal “in 

trying to work around [Waksal’s] O&D [officer and director] bar.”  
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g. Waksal’s promise to pay Plaintiffs $15,000,000 was never disclosed to 

Kadmon’s prospective investors. 

h. Defendants acted knowingly in sending or causing the June 30, 2012, email to 

be sent. 

64. Defendants’ actions and communications demonstrate their knowing intent to 

manipulate and contravene the rules of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 and Securities 

and Exchange Commission Rule 10b-5, and violate 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). 

65. Plaintiffs justifiably relied upon Defendants’ June 30, 2012, email in signing the 

July 5, 2012, letter renouncing their interest in Kadmon and any and all claims against Waksal 

personally. 

66. Defendants’ June 30, 2012, email constituted an offer which Plaintiffs accepted 

by signing the July 5, 2012, letter agreeing to sell Plaintiffs’ interest in Kadmon—1,000,000 

shares of Kadmon stock, including the 120,000 shares for which the stock certificate had been 

issued—back to Waksal in exchange for $15,000,000. 

67. As a result of Defendants’ non-payment and consequent breach of the agreement, 

Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount not less than the greater of the current value of 

1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock or $15,000,000 plus interest accruing at the statutory rate 

from June 30, 2012. 

COUNT III 
BREACH OF CONTRACT FOR 1 MILLION (1,000,000) SHARES 

(against Defendant Waksal) 
 

68. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 
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69. As of August 12, 2010, Waksal and ATB entered into a valid and binding stock 

purchase agreement whereby Defendant Waksal agreed to convey to Plaintiffs 1,000,000 shares 

of Kadmon stock.  See Exhibit A. 

70. Plaintiffs performed their part of the contract as required. 

71. Waksal failed to transfer the shares as detailed in the August 12, 2010, agreement.  

72. Waksal’s subsequent actions, including transfer of 120,000 shares of Kadmon 

stock, the signed June 29, 2012, letter and the June 30, 2012, email written by Gordon acting at 

Waksal’s direction as a founder and shareholder and copying other attorneys for Kadmon 

demonstrate that Waksal was aware of his valid and binding agreement with Plaintiffs and his 

non-performance thereof. 

73. By virtue of Waksal’s non-performance, Plaintiffs have been injured in an amount 

not less than the current value of 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock. 

COUNT IV 
BREACH OF CONTRACT FOR 15 MILLION DOLLARS ($15,000,000) 

(against all Defendants) 
 

74. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

75. Since the inception of the events giving rise to this Complaint, Plaintiffs have 

maintained that the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement for 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon 

stock is valid and binding and that Defendants’ attempt to substitute 120,000 shares of Kadmon 

stock in place of the 1,000,000 shares constitutes a violation of the stock purchase agreement. 

76. On July 5, 2012, Plaintiffs renounced any and all interest in Kadmon, including 

the 120,000 shares of Kadmon stock that Defendants had caused to be issued to them in alleged 
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full satisfaction of the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement, and any and all claims against 

Waksal personally. 

77. In signing the July 5, 2012, letter, Belesis, on behalf of Plaintiffs, relied on the 

June 30, 2012, email and on oral representations that he would receive $15,000,000 from Waksal 

personally in exchange for his renunciation of all claims against Kadmon and Waksal including 

the 1,000,000 shares and the 120,000 shares. 

78. It was reasonable and foreseeable that Plaintiffs would rely on the representations 

made by Waksal and his attorneys, who acted as Waksal’s and Kadmon’s agents-in-fact and as 

Kadmon’s corporate officers, because Plaintiffs were aware that the 1,000,000 shares of stock 

that they were owed were worth not less than $15,000,000 on June 30, 2012. 

79. Despite Plaintiffs’ renunciation, Defendants failed to pay the $15,000,000.   

80. By virtue of Defendants’ non-performance, Plaintiffs have been injured in an 

amount not less than $15,000,000 plus interest accruing at the statutory rate from June 30, 2012. 

COUNT V 
BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING 

FOR 15 MILLION DOLLARS ($15,000,000) 
(against all Defendants) 

 
81. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

82. In signing the July 5, 2012, letter, Belesis, on behalf of himself and ATB, relied 

on Defendants’ representation in the June 30, 2012, email that Plaintiffs would be compensated 

in the amount of $15,000,000 dollars for their renunciation of all interest in Kadmon and all 

claims against Waksal personally. 

83. Plaintiffs’ actions demonstrate that Belesis considered the June 30, 2012, email to 

be an offer which he, through his signature on the July 5, 2012, letter, accepted.   
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84. Consideration for Plaintiffs’ renunciation of all interest in Kadmon and all claims 

against Waksal personally was the promised payment of $15,000,000 from Waksal. 

85. Defendants’ willful and wrongful failure to pay the $15,000,000 justly due and 

owing under the agreement, as offered in the June 30, 2012, email and as accepted by Plaintiffs 

in the July 5, 2012, letter constitutes a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing because Defendants’ failure to adhere to the agreement has injured Plaintiffs in an 

amount not less than $15,000,000 plus interest accruing at the statutory rate from June 30, 2012.  

COUNT VI 
FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT OF PLAINTIFFS’ AGREEMENT TO THE JUNE 30, 

2012, OFFER 
(against all Defendants) 

 
86. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

87. In writing the June 30, 2012, email offer, Defendants knew or reasonably should 

have known that the representation that Defendant Waksal would pay Plaintiffs $15,000,000 was 

false. 

88. Specifically, Defendants knew that, if Plaintiffs accepted the terms of the June 30, 

2012, email, Plaintiffs would renounce their valid and binding agreement for 1,000,000 shares of 

Kadmon stock, the issued stock certificate for 120,000 shares of Kadmon stock, and all past, 

present, and future rights to any interest in Kadmon or claim against Waksal personally. 

89. Defendants knew that Plaintiffs would not willingly or knowingly renounce the 

valuable rights outlined in the preceding paragraphs without consideration. 

90. However, Defendants also knew that Waksal had no intention of paying 

$15,000,000 to Belesis or to any of the entities controlled by Belesis’ including ATB.   
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91. Defendants made the representation that Waksal would pay Plaintiffs $15,000,000 

to induce Plaintiffs to reasonably rely on that representation in signing away their right to any 

other claim against Kadmon and Waksal personally. 

92. Plaintiffs relied on the representation, as evidenced by Belesis’ signature on the 

July 5, 2012, letter. 

93. Defendants’ fraudulent inducement of Plaintiffs’ renunciation, as conveyed in the 

July 5, 2012, letter has injured Plaintiffs in an amount not less than $15,000,000 plus interest 

accruing at the statutory rate from June 30, 2012. 

94. To the extent that the July 5, 2012, letter may be considered a binding agreement 

against Plaintiffs, rescission of the agreement is required because Belesis’ signature on behalf of 

himself and ATB was induced by Defendants’ fraudulent misrepresentation. 

COUNT VII 
PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL FOR 15 MILLION DOLLARS ($15,000,000) 

(against all Defendants) 
 

95. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

96. The June 30, 2012, email constituted a clear and unambiguous promise that 

Defendant Waksal would pay $15,000,000 in exchange for Plaintiffs’ renunciation of any and all 

claims against Kadmon and Waksal personally, including the August 12, 2010, stock purchase 

agreement. 

97. Plaintiffs relied on the promise in signing the July 5, 2012, letter. 

98. It was reasonable and foreseeable that Plaintiffs would rely on the promise. 
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99. By reason of their reasonable and foreseeable reliance on Defendants’ promise, 

Plaintiffs have been injured in an amount not less than $15,000,000 plus interest accruing at the 

statutory rate from June 30, 2012. 

COUNT VIII 
MISREPRESENTATION 

 
100. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

101. Defendants knew at all times relevant that the August 12, 2010, stock purchase 

agreement was a valid and binding agreement.   

102. At all times relevant, Defendants intended to defraud Plaintiffs in that Defendants 

never intended to convey the 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock to Plaintiffs despite Waksal’s 

valid and binding signature on the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement. 

103. At all times relevant, Defendants attempted to defraud Plaintiffs by issuing the 

stock certificate for 120,000 shares, which was far less than the parties had agreed upon. 

104. By signing the June 29, 2012, letter and by sending or causing the June 30, 2012, 

email offer to be sent, Defendants evidenced their understanding that the August 12, 2010, stock 

purchase agreement continued to bind the parties. 

105. By signing the June 29, 2012, letter and by sending or causing the June 30, 2012, 

email offer to be sent, Defendants evidenced their understanding that Plaintiffs owned 120,000 

shares of Kadmon stock. 

106. By signing the June 29, 2012, letter and by sending or causing the June 30, 2012, 

email offer to be sent, Defendants caused a material misrepresentation to be made to Plaintiffs 

that Defendant Waksal would pay Plaintiffs $15,000,000 in exchange for their renunciation of 
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the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement and their return of the stock certificate for 

120,000 shares of Kadmon stock. 

107. In signing the July 5, 2012, letter, Plaintiffs reasonably and detrimentally relied 

on Defendants’ promise to pay $15,000,000 as consideration for the renunciation set forth in the 

July 5, 2012, letter. 

108. By reason of their reasonable, foreseeable, and detrimental reliance on 

Defendants’ promise, Plaintiffs have been injured in an amount not less than $15,000,000 plus 

interest accruing at the statutory rate from June 30, 2012. 

COUNT IX 
CONSTRUCTIVE CONTRACT AND UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

(against all Defendants) 
 

109. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

110. To the extent the existence of a contract between the parties based on the June 30, 

2012, email and the July 5, 2012, letter may be disputed, the Court should find a contract implied 

in law because the dealings between the parties reveal all of the elements of a contract.  

Specifically: 

a. On or about June 30, 2012, Defendants made an offer to Plaintiffs to pay 

Plaintiffs $15,000,000 in exchange for Plaintiff’s renunciation of all interest in 

Kadmon and any and all claims against Waksal personally. 

b. The offer was communicated in writing to Plaintiffs’ attorney and, on 

information and belief, was orally confirmed by Defendant Waksal to Plaintiff 

Belesis. 
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c. On July 5, 2012, Plaintiffs accepted that offer by signing the July 5, 2012, 

letter and by returning the stock certificate for 120,000 shares of Kadmon 

stock. 

d. Defendants have breached the contract by failing to pay the promised 

$15,000,000. 

e. Plaintiffs have been damaged by Defendants’ breach in an amount not less 

than $15,000,000 plus interest accruing at the statutory rate from June 30, 

2012. 

111. Defendants were unjustly enriched by Plaintiffs’ renunciation of the August 12, 

2010, stock purchase agreement and their return of the stock certificate for 120,000 shares of 

Kadmon stock. 

112. Defendants’ failure to pay the $15,000,000 resulted in Defendants’ unjust 

enrichment at Plaintiffs’ expense because Defendants caused Plaintiffs to renounce valuable 

rights amounting to not less than the value of 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock as of the date of 

this Complaint, in reliance on Defendants’ promise to pay $15,000,000. 

113. Equity and good conscience militate against permitting Defendants to retain the 

1,000,000 shares, the 120,000 shares, and the $15,000,000. 

COUNT X 
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH A BUSINESS CONTRACT 

(against Kadmon and Gordon) 
 

114. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate each and every allegation contained above as 

if fully set forth herein. 

115. The August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement is a valid contract. 
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116. Defendants Kadmon and Gordon were, at all times relevant, aware that the 

August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement was a valid and binding contract.   

117. On or about March 16, 2012, Defendant Kadmon, through its officers and 

directors, facilitating the breach of contract between ATB and Waksal, caused the issuance of a 

stock certificate for 120,000 shares instead of the agreed upon 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon 

stock.  

118. On or about June 30, 2012, Defendants Kadmon and Gordon intentionally 

procured the breach of the August 12, 2010, contract by sending or causing the June 30, 2012, 

email to be sent to induce Plaintiffs to renounce their valid and binding contract with Waksal for 

1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock in exchange for $15,000,000. 

119. On July 5, 2012, Plaintiffs signed the letter renouncing all interest in Kadmon and 

voiding all agreements including the August 12, 2010, stock purchase agreement, in anticipation 

of the $15,000,000 payment from Waksal.  

120. By reason of Defendants Kadmon and Gordon’s intentional procurement of the 

breach of the August 12, 2010, contract, Plaintiffs have been damaged in an amount not less than 

the value of 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock as of the date of this Complaint. 

* * * 
 

121. In the event that any of Plaintiffs’ claims as set forth herein are deemed 

insufficiently pled in any manner whatsoever and/or in the event that additional information 

becomes available during the course of discovery, Plaintiffs hereby respectfully reserve the right 

to amend this Complaint as may become necessary. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury and judgment against Defendants as follows: 

a. Judgment in favor of Plaintiffs on all counts; and 

b. An Order: 

1. Compelling specific performance of the stock purchase agreement, instructing 

Defendants to convey to Plaintiffs 1,000,000 shares of Kadmon stock; or 

2. Awarding compensatory damages in the amount of at least $15,000,000 and 

punitive damages in an amount to be determined by the Court, with all 

appropriate pre- and post-judgment interest thereon; and   

c. Attorney’s fees, all taxable costs and disbursements incurred herein; and  

d. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 
Dated: June 29, 2015 
 New York, NY  

Meringolo & Associates, P.C. 
By: _______/s/_____ 
 
John C. Meringolo 
375 Greenwich Street, 7th Floor 
New York, NY 10013 
(212) 941-2077 
(212) 202-4936 fax 
john@meringoloesq.com 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
ANASTASIOS THOMAS BELESIS and 
ATB HOLDING COMPANY, LLC 
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